No. S195852 (Court of Appeal Nos. B212966, B214470) (Los Angeles County Sup. Ct. No. BS112656)



IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

TODAY'S FRESH START, INC.,

DEC 2 9 2011

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Frederick K. Unfrich Clerk

Deputy

VS.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION

	Defendants and Appellants.
After A Decisio	on By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DOLL AMIR & ELEY LLP
MICHAEL M. AMIR (SBN 204491)
MARY TESH GLARUM (SBN 175181)
LLOYD VU (SBN 248717)
1888 Century Park East, Suite 1850
Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: (310) 557-9100
Facsimile: (310) 557-9101

I. ISSUE ON WHICH REVIEW WAS GRANTED

Does due process require an evidentiary hearing before a neutral hearing officer or decision-maker prior to the revocation of a charter school's charter by a county board of education?

II. INTRODUCTION

Affirming the Court of Appeal's decision would constitute the reversal of the long-standing, venerable principle that one's property interest cannot be taken without due process. Revocation of a charter school's charter is a serious matter; not only does it implicate the charter school's very existence, but also significantly impacts the community, parents, teachers and students that have come to rely on it. As one commentator noted, it "creates instability in the lives of the teachers, students, and parents, the threat of which may overshadow the [chartering authority's] need to define the standard of performance accountability." Given these serious consequences, it is imperative that—prior to revocation—a hearing must be granted that is not only free of biased decision-makers, but also provides for a presentation of evidence that effectively apprises the charter school of the

¹ (Suzanne E. Eckes *et al*, *Charter School Accountability: Legal Considerations Concerning Nonrenewal And Revocation Procedures* (2006) 2006 B.Y.U. Educ. & L.J. 551, 554.)

charges levied against it. As codified in the Education Code, it is the "intent of the Legislature that charter schools are and should become an integral part of the California educational system and that establishment of charter schools should be encouraged." In order to further this goal, these due process protections must be established.

It has long been understood that the establishment of charter schools constitutes an implicit criticism of and challenge to the existing traditional public school system. The movement for charter schools has been fueled by the belief that public schools have failed in certain respects, and that at least part of the reason they have failed is because of their monopoly on providing public education. Charter schools thus serve to break and challenge the monopoly of traditional public schools, offering alternatives that empower parental choice in their children's education. Furthermore, by placing competitive pressures on traditional public schools, charter schools shock traditional public schools out of complacency and force them to change for the better. Given that charter schools and traditional public schools must vie for the same limited public funds, charter schools have been competing with public schools on both a policy and financial level since their acceptance into the education system.

² (Educ. Code § 47605(b).)

Given what many termed as an "acrimonious relationship" between charter schools and the current educational establishment, when the revocation of a school's charter is at issue—and thus it's effective elimination from competition—it is imperative to provide charter schools with a fair hearing that comports with due process. Indeed, as revocation of a charter school's charter will directly increase the amount of public funds available to a public school, the potential for abuse is clear and the need for a neutral and impartial adjudicator is apparent. As Governor Schwarzenegger noted when signing a charter school revocation bill into law, "[a]s revocation is a serious matter that causes a disruption in instructional services for the school's students, the need for a charter school to have its case heard before a more disinterested body is clear."

Nevertheless, in this case, the Court of Appeal's decision allows authorizers to revoke charters without even the minimal requirements of due process. Despite the institutional bias existing between charter schools and traditional public schools—as they directly compete for students and funds—and further despite the lack of neutrality publicly admitted by the adjudicating entity in this case, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's grant of a new and impartial hearing. Instead, the Court of Appeal held that an impartial hearing is not required prior to revocation, nor is any

presentation of evidence and arguments needed in order to give a charter school an adequate opportunity to rebut the charges against it. The appellate court held that neither due process nor Education Code § 47607 require anything more.

This opinion must be reversed. As an initial matter, construing both due process and section 47607 in such a restrictive manner effectively strips charter schools throughout California of a fair and impartial hearing during the revocation proceedings. Specifically, despite this Court's warnings of the dangers inherent in pecuniary biases, the opinion below enables an entity with a substantial financial interest in the revocation itself to nevertheless oversee and determine the revocation of its own competitors. Further, despite the well-established principle that impartial decision-makers are essential to a fair hearing, the underlying opinion holds that a decisionmaker may nevertheless be instructed to be biased. Finally, despite the serious consequences of revocation—including the closing of an educational institution, the unemployment of educators, and the displacement of hundreds families and children—the Court of Appeal's decision means that due process does not require an evidentiary hearing. If undisturbed, the Court of Appeal decision will have a drastic impact on the viability of charter schools everywhere—stifling the charter school movement explicitly

encouraged by the Legislature. For these reasons, the Court of Appeal's decision must be reversed.

III. STATEMENT OF FACT

A. Background On Charter Schools.

A charter school is a publicly funded, nonsectarian, tuition-free school that operates under a charter negotiated between the school's organizers and a public authorizer. The charter is a performance contract that details the school's mission, program goals, methods of measuring success, and the types of students it will serve. By their establishment, charter schools provide families with an opportunity to choose an education for their children in public schools that are separated from the local public school system. This type of choice is especially geared towards families who believe that the traditional public schools are not well suited for their children but are unable to afford private schools or the ability to relocate to more highly regarded school districts. Thus, if families are dissatisfied with the traditional public schools of their local school district, they may seek placement of their children in available public charter schools. Thus, "charter schools represent a challenge to the monopoly on public schooling long enjoyed by the traditional 'educational establishment.'" (Sandra

Vergari, Charter Schools: A Significant Precedent In Public Education (2003) 59 N.Y.U. Ann. Surv. Am. L. 495, 497 (hereafter Charter Schools).) Indeed, in enacting the Charter School Act, the California Legislature stated: "[i]t is the intent of the Legislature, in enacting this part,... to accomplish ... the following: (g) Provide vigorous competition within the public school system to stimulate continual improvements in all public schools." (Educ. Code § 47601(g).)

The competition between both charter schools and traditional public schools is apparent. This is particularly true when it comes to public funding. For both public schools and charter schools, funding is determined largely by the average daily attendance ("ADA") of students. In passing the Charter Schools Act, the legislature intended "that each charter school be provided with operational funding that is equal to the total funding that would be available to a similar school district serving a similar pupil population." (Educ. Code § 47630(a).) Thus, because public money follows the student, public schools and charter schools must compete for students in order to obtain funding.

B. The Parties.

Today's Fresh Start, Inc. ("<u>Today's Fresh Start</u>") is a county-wide charter school serving economically underprivileged areas of Los Angeles

County. (July 12, 2011 Court of Appeal-Second District Opinion "Opn." 2.) Los Angeles County Office of Education ("LACOE") is a regional education agency under the leadership of Los Angeles County Board of Education ("LACBOE"). (Id.) LACBOE was Today's Fresh Start's chartering authority and a signatory to the charter petition agreement between the parties. (Id.) LACBOE initially granted the charter in 2003 and renewed the charter in 2005 for a five-year term. (Id.)

C. The Revocation of Today's Fresh Start's Charter.

In or about June of 2007, LACOE began expressing concerns about Today's Fresh Start's operation. (Opn. 3.) The parties subsequently attempted to work through LACOE's concerns, but those efforts did not bear fruit. (*Id.* at 3-4.) In or about October of 2007, Dr. Darline Robles, the Superintendent of LACOE and CEO of LACBOE, formally recommended to LACBOE that it revoke Today's Fresh Start's charter. (*Id.* at 4.) LACBOE approved this recommendation, and revocation proceedings were initiated against Today's Fresh Start. (*Id.* at 4-5.)

In or about November of 2007, LACBOE held a public hearing on its intent to revoke Today's Fresh Start's charter. (Opn. 5.) While Today's Fresh Start presented substantial evidence demonstrating why the revocation was improper, LACOE remained noticeably silent, and in fact presented no

evidence or arguments in support of revocation at the hearing. (See id. at 5-6.)

One thing that LACBOE did make clear at this hearing, however, was that LACBOE was not a neutral entity. Particularly, when Today's Fresh Start objected to the proceedings on the grounds that LACBOE was not neutral entity and thus not a proper decision-maker, LACOE and LACBOE's general counsel, Ms. Sheri Kim Gale, publicly agreed, and explicitly instructed LACBOE on this lack of neutrality. (See Opn. 6.) Specifically, when one of the LACBOE Board Members asked Ms. Gale about the issue of impartiality, Ms. Gale stated that there was no need for the revocation to be decided by an impartial body: "In this matter, in this process, you are not neutral." (See id.) Ms. Gale also stated that Today's Fresh Start was not entitled to an impartial decision-maker until it appealed the revocation to the State Board of Education. (See id.) Ms. Gale's interpretation was expressly adopted by LACBOE. (See id.)

On December 11, 2007, LACBOE voted 4 to 3 to revoke Today's Fresh Start's charter. (Opn. 7-8.) Though Today's Fresh Start would seek further administrative remedies, including appellate review by the State Board, and despite the fact that even the California Department of Education ("CDE") would ultimately side with Today's Fresh Start—finding that

LACBOE's findings were unclear and not supported by substantial evidence and thus recommending reversal—due to misunderstandings with the applicable law, the revocation was nevertheless ultimately upheld. (*See id.* at 8-10.)

D. The Due Process Debates Among The Courts Below.

In or about December of 2007, Today's Fresh Start filed a petition for a writ of administrative mandamus in the superior court. (Opn. 10.) During this proceeding, Today's Fresh Start moved for judgment, arguing that Today's Fresh Start was deprived of due process. (*Id.* at 12.) The trial court granted the motion. (*Id.*)

First, the trial court found that because LACBOE was not a neutral decision-maker, the trial court ruled that Today's Fresh Start had been deprived of its right to a fair and impartial tribunal. (Opn. 12-13.) Second, the trial court found that Today's Fresh Start's due process rights were also violated by LACOE's failure to introduce any evidence supporting the revocation at the hearing, thus depriving Today's Fresh Start of an adequate opportunity to rebut. (*Id.* at 12.)

LACOE and LACBOE appealed, and the Court of Appeal reversed.

(See Opn. 42.) In essence, the Court of Appeal held that even though

LACBOE may not in fact be neutral, Today's Fresh Start did not present

and integrity in those serving as adjudicators. (*See id.* at 36.) The court further noted Today's Fresh Start is afforded additional protection due to the fact that section 47607(g) provides for review by the more impartial State Board of Education. (*Id.* at 37-39.) Finally, the court reasoned that an evidentiary hearing is not required as long as Today's Fresh Start has been generally apprised of the facts in existence against it. (*Id.* at 25-29.)

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. A Hearing On The Revocation Of A Charter School's Charter

 Requires Neutral And Impartial Adjudicators.
 - Today's Fresh Start Is Entitled To Due Process Protections
 During The Administrative Revocation Process.

There is no dispute that Today's Fresh Start is entitled to due process protections in this case. As held by the U.S. Supreme Court, "[t]he Fourteenth Amendment's procedural protection of property is a safeguard of the security of interests that a person has already acquired in specific benefits." (*Board of Regents v. Roth* (1972) 408 U.S. 564, 576.) Such property interests include, for example, the continued receipt of benefits from a contract. (*See id.*; *see also Slochower v. Board of Education* (1956) 350 U.S. 551, (regarding dismissal during tenure); *Wieman v. Updegraff*

(1952) 344 U.S. 183 (regarding dismissal during terms of contract).) As explained by the Court in *Roth*, the purpose of the rules of property is "protect those claims upon which people rely in their daily lives, reliance that must not be arbitrarily undermined." (*Board of Regents v. Roth, supra*, at 577.) As a result, continued operation of a school has also been considered a substantial property interest entitled to due process protection. (*California Assn. of Private Special Education Schools v. Department of Education*, (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 360.)

Therefore, there can be little doubt that Today's Fresh Start has a substantial protectable property interest in this case. When Today's Fresh Start was granted a charter in 2003, and had that charter renewed in 2005 for a five year term, Today's Fresh Start had a legitimate claim of entitlement to the continuation of its charter at least until 2010. (Opn. at 23-24.) Thus, when revocation proceedings were initiated in 2007—before the natural expiration of the charter term—Today's Fresh Start was entitled to due process protections in the administrative revocation process. (*Id.*)

2. A Revocation Hearing Requires Neutral And Impartial Decision-Makers.

As it cannot be disputed that Today's Fresh Start is entitled to due process, it now must be determined what process is due. Education Code §

47607(e) requires that, prior to revoking a charter a chartering authority must "hold a public hearing, in the normal course of business, on the issue of whether evidence exists to revoke the charter.... The chartering authority shall not revoke a charter, unless it makes written factual findings supported by substantial evidence, specific to the charter school, that support its findings." (Educ. Code § 47607(e).)

"When ... an administrative agency conducts adjudicative proceedings, the constitutional guarantee of due process of law *requires* a *fair* tribunal. A fair tribunal is one in which the judge or other decision maker is free of bias for or against a party." (*Morongo Band of Mission Indians v. State Water Resources Control Bd.* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 731, 737 (citations omitted, emphasis added); *see also Quintero v. City of Santa Ana* (2003)114 Cal.App.4th 810, 814 ("In an administrative action, procedural due process entitles a party to a hearing 'before a reasonably impartial, noninvolved reviewer....").)

Thus where, as here, an adjudicative hearing is required, an impartial adjudicator is mandatory:

When due process requires a hearing, the adjudicator must be impartial. Speaking of administrative hearings, and articulating the procedural requirements demanded by rudimentary due process in that setting, the court has said that, 'of course an impartial decision maker is essential'.

(Haas v. County of San Bernardino (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017, 1025.)

Indeed, impartial decision-makers are so vital to a fair hearing that the usual cost-benefit analyses applicable to most due process procedural safeguards do not apply. (*Haas v. County of San Bernardino, supra, 27 Cal.4th* at 1035) ("[t]he unfairness that results from biased decisionmakers strikes so deeply at our sense of justice that it differs qualitatively from the injury that results from insufficient procedures. In Justice Holmes' famous phrase, 'even a dog distinguishes between being stumbled over and being kicked."".)

Thus, it is clear that before revocation can occur, due process requires a hearing before a neutral decision-maker. However, as explained below, not only did the Court of Appeal permit the revocation hearing to be adjudicated by an entity that presented an impermissible appearance of pecuniary bias, but an entity that also presented an unacceptable risk of actual bias as well.

i. Pecuniary Bias Exists Due To The Competition For Limited State Funding Between Public Schools And Charter Schools.

"Of all the types of bias that can affect adjudication, pecuniary interest has long received the most unequivocal condemnation and the least

forgiving scrutiny." (Haas v. County of San Bernardino, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 1025.) "Thus, while adjudicators challenged for reasons other than financial interest have in effect been afforded a presumption of impartiality, adjudicators challenged for financial interest have not." (Id. (citations omitted).) As this Court explained, "the adjudicator's financial interest in the outcome presents a 'situation[] ... in which experience teaches that the probability of actual bias on the part of the judge or decisionmaker is too high to be constitutionally tolerable." (Id. at 1027.) The risk of bias caused by financial interest need not manifest itself in overtly prejudiced rulings, but instead "[t]he 'possible temptation' not to be scrupulously fair, alone and in itself, offends the Constitution." (Id. at 1030 (citations omitted).)

As a result, even the mere objective appearance of bias is impermissible. (Haas v. County of San Bernardino, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 1034.) Indeed, the appearance of bias may invalidate a decision even when the decision-maker himself is unaware of the facts giving rise to the appearance of bias. (Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp. (1988) 486 U.S. 847.) For example, in Liljeberg, the Court noted that "Judge Collins did not have actual knowledge of Loyola's interest in the dispute," facts which constituted the basis for finding bias. (Id. at 864.) Nevertheless, the Liljeberg court invalidated the decision due to impermissible bias,

explaining that even though the decision-maker was unaware of the pertinent facts, "[t]he problem, however, is that people who have not served on the bench are often all too willing to indulge suspicions and doubts concerning the integrity of judges. The very purpose of § 455(a) is to promote confidence in the judiciary by avoiding even the appearance of impropriety whenever possible." (*Id.* at 864-65.)

The appearance of financial bias clearly exists in the charter school revocation context. As discussed above, charter schools and traditional public school institutions necessarily compete for students in order to obtain funding. (See Educ. Code § 47630(a).) As described by one author, "[c]harter schools present not only a policy challenge to the authority of the traditional education establishment but also a financial challenge. Students who leave a traditional public school to attend a charter school are followed by per pupil funding that would otherwise go to the traditional public school." (Charter Schools, supra 59 N.Y.U. Ann. Surv. Am. L. at 499.) Thus, the financial tension between charter schools and public schools have been well-known and documented; because each school must compete for students in order to obtain funding, there essentially exists a zero-sum game between charter schools and public schools. (See Michael M. Amir, Charter Fights, The Competing Rights of Charter Schools and Local School Districts Are Triggering Myriad Legal Disputes, (2008) 31-AUG L.A. Law. 24, 27 (hereafter Charter Fights) ("While this funding system can promote competition among charter and traditional school districts to attract students and teachers, it can also create a tension between the two groups. After all, a local school district is not only a charter school's competition but also frequently its chartering authority.").)

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