#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

### SUPREME COURT FILED

#### OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JAN 2 7 2012

TOD 4 371	a ppparr	OT A DT	DIO
TODAY'	2 LKF2H	SIAKI,	INC.,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Plaintiff, Respondent, and Cross-Appellant,

Deputy

VS.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION, et al.,

Defendants, Appellants, and Cross-Respondents.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One 2d Civil Case No. B212966 c/w B214470 Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BS 112656

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. DUE PROCESS DOES NOT REQUIRE AN EVIDENTIARY
HEARING BEFORE A NEUTRAL HEARING OFFICER
PRIOR TO THE INITIAL DECISION TO REVOKE A
CHARTER.

Throughout this litigation, TFS has equated due process with a trialtype hearing before a neutral hearing officer. Anything short of that is, in its view, a denial of due process. The law is otherwise.

"The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.' [Citation]." (Mathews v. Eldridge (1976) 424 U.S. 319, 333 [96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18] ("Mathews").) It is well settled that due process "is not a technical conception with a fixed content unrelated to time, place, and circumstances. Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." (Id. at p. 334, internal quotations and citations omitted; see also Saleeby v. State Bar (1985) 39 Cal.3d 547, 563 ["The requirements of due process . . . are not inflexible"].) What process is due depends upon weighing the various interests involved. (Saleeby v. State Bar, supra, 39 Cal.3d at p. 565; Oberholzer v. Commission on Judicial Performance (1999) 20 Cal.4th 371, 390 [California Constitution].)

The federal test for evaluating the scope of a pre-deprivation due process hearing turns on the consideration of three factors: "First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk

of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally the Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail." (Mathews, supra, 424 U.S. at p. 335; Coleman v. Department of Personnel Administration (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1102, 1119.) Courts consider the same three factors for purposes of due process analysis under the California Constitution, as well as an additional fourth factor: "the dignitary interest of informing individuals of the nature, grounds and consequences of the action and of enabling them to present their side of the story before a responsible governmental official.' [Citations.]" (Oberholzer v. Commission on Judicial Performance, supra, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 390-391.)<sup>2</sup> "The ultimate balance involves a determination as to when, under our constitutional system, judicial-type procedures must be imposed upon administrative action to assure fairness... . The judicial model of an evidentiary hearing is neither a required, nor even the most effective, method of decisionmaking in all circumstances." (*Mathews*, *supra*, 424 U.S. at p. 348.)

This court has determined that the *Mathews* test does not apply "when the due process claim involves an allegation of biased decisionmakers." (*Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>/ As the Court of Appeal noted, TFS did not emphasize the fourth factor. (Opn. 22, fn. 23.)

1017, 1035.) The trial court in this case declined to apply the *Mathews* test because TFS convinced it that the County Board was biased. While the statute requires only "a public hearing, in the normal course of business" on the issue of revocation (Ed. Code, § 47607, subd. (e)), the trial court imposed the requirement of an *additional* hearing, a preliminary hearing before a neutral hearing officer, purportedly to remedy the alleged bias; then "[t]he Board can sit and review that decision, and it may do so on a partisan basis . . . and then the State Board of Education sits in review of that. That's the way I think we go." (1 RT J24; 9 CT 1974.) The Court of Appeal correctly determined that such a preliminary hearing was constitutionally unnecessary.

## A. TFS Failed To Demonstrate Bias On The Part Of The County Board.

TFS contends that actual bias or an unacceptable risk of actual bias tainted the revocation proceedings before the County Board, rendering them a violation of due process. (POB 13-22.) TFS's purported evidence to support this contention is three-fold: (1) The County Board's alleged pecuniary interest in revoking TFS's charter insofar as revocation removed a purported competitor for limited school funds (POB 13-18); (2) LACOE's function as both prosecutor and advisor to the County Board on the question of revocation (POB 19-21); and (3) general counsel Sheri Kim Gale's "instruction" to the County Board that it was "not neutral" (POB 21-22).

TFS falls short of establishing any bias rendering the revocation procedures unfair.

1. TFS failed to preserve any argument of bias based on pecuniary interest by failing to raise it below; the argument is meritless in any event.

TFS raises as a source of bias that charter schools and traditional public schools "must compete for students in order to obtain funding."

(POB 15.) "[T]he more charter schools [the County Board] can permissibly revoke, the more funds become available for its own schools." (POB 18.)

From this purported pecuniary interest, TFS asks the Court to infer the County Board could not give it a fair hearing. The Court should decline to do so.

TFS did not make this argument in the trial court. The argument is dependent on evidence regarding the funding of charter schools and traditional public schools, a complicated issue (see, e.g., Ed. Code, §§ 47633, 47634.1, 47634.4), and one involving whether and the degree to which, if at all, charter schools, such as TFS, may vie with traditional public schools, such as those overseen by the County Board, for "the same limited funds" (POB 2). Because the issue was not addressed in the trial court, the appellate record is devoid of any such evidence. (See Opn. 32 ["There was no evidence of a financial or personal interest on the part of the County Board"].) To the extent TFS is attempting to develop an additional factual record in this forum, it falls short, merely relying on journal articles, such as

one written by its own counsel. (POB 15.) Interestingly, according to its citation, that article was issued in August 2008, the same month TFS brought its motion for judgment on the due process issue (8 CT 1686); yet the motion never mentioned any alleged bias based on pecuniary interest.

This Court "normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1).) Moreover, this Court has stated, "[I]t is our policy not to review issues that are dependent upon development of a factual record when those issues have not been timely raised in the Court of Appeal or not reached in that court, when the latter omission was not brought to the attention of the Court of Appeal by petition for rehearing." (*People v. Peevy* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 1184, 1205.) The issue here is fact-dependent. It needed to be raised, if at all, in the trial court so that it could be addressed in the Court of Appeal. It is raised here for the first time. The Court should decline to consider the issue of bias based on pecuniary interest for this reason. In addition, as review of the Education Code reveals, the charges of pecuniary interest could not be supported in any event.

TFS asserts that "the more charter schools [the County Board] can permissibly revoke, the more funds become available for its own schools," in its words, "a zero-sum game." (POB 15, 18.) The assertion does not withstand scrutiny. As a preliminary matter, charter schools are "part of the Public School System" and are deemed to be "under the exclusive control of the officers of the public schools." (Ed. Code, §§ 47615, subd. (a),

47612, subd. (a); Wells v. One2One Learning Foundation (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1164, 1186; see also Wilson v. State Bd. of Education (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 1125, 1136-1142.) Thus, charter schools are the County Board's "own" schools insofar as the County Board grants or renews the charters and exercises oversight. (Ed. Code, §§ 47607, 47604.3.)

Moreover, by statute, the primary function of LACOE, of which the County Board is the governing board, is not to operate schools but to oversee and coordinate among school districts in Los Angeles County, including charter schools. (Ed. Code, § 1700; see *id.* at § 47612, subd. (c) [charter school is a "school district" for purposes of funding and academics].) The schools that the County Board, indeed all county boards, do operate are highly specialized and do not draw on the general student population that TFS draws on. (See, e.g., Historical and Statutory Notes, 28B West's Ann. Ed. Code (2003 ed.) foll. § 58801.6, p. 462 [Legislature's findings and declaration referring to Los Angeles High School for the Arts "operated" by LACOE]; see also, e.g., Ed. Code, § 48645.2 [county boards operate juvenile court schools or contract with school districts to do so].) Hence, the County Board does not compete for students or funds with TFS or any other charter school.

Additionally, chartering authorities are compensated for the actual costs of their oversight of the charter schools, typically not to exceed 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>/ According to its website, <a href="http://www.todaysfreshstartcharter">http://www.todaysfreshstartcharter</a> school.org> (accessed Jan. 18, 2012), TFS offers classes for students in grades K through 8.

percent of the charter school's revenue. (Ed. Code, § 47613, subd. (a).) If anything, chartering authorities have a financial incentive to *grant* charters, rather than to revoke them.

When decisionmakers are challenged for financial interest, the standard is whether there exists "the objective appearance [of bias] that arises from financial circumstances that would offer a possible temptation to the average person as adjudicator." (*Haas v. County of San Bernardino, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 1034.) There are no financial circumstances in evidence here to create an objective appearance of bias on the part of the County Board when it revoked TFS's charter.<sup>9</sup>

The same is true for any other chartering agency, such as a school district which does operate schools offering classes for children in grades K through 8. The Education Code undercuts any notion that revocation takes money from the pockets of the charter school and puts it directly into the pocket of the revoking agency such that the revoking agency would be tempted to revoke for monetary gain. For example, funds remain with the charter school until the appeal to another agency is completed (Ed. Code, § 47607, subd. (i)), and the outcome of any appeal is not a foregone conclusion (see § I.B.2, *post*). And again, school districts are compensated for their oversight. (Ed. Code, § 47613.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>/ Significantly, the trial court determined that the unbiased hearing officer could in fact be a LACOE employee otherwise uninvolved in the revocation proceedings. (9 CT 1974.) In defending the trial court's ruling in the Court of Appeal and in seeking its reinstatement here, TFS in essence concedes LACOE's lack of bias based on pecuniary interest, as well as that of its governing board.

It must be noted that both statute and regulation strictly limit any discretion a chartering authority may have with respect to revocation, leaving little room for the operation of financial incentive. (Ed. Code, § 47607, subds. (c)-(e); see Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 11965, subds. (d)-(f) [defining in detail the required content of notices of intent to revoke, of revocation, and of violation].)<sup>10/</sup>

Moreover, a charter school can go elsewhere for authorization. (See Ed. Code, § 47605, subd. (j)(1) [if a school district denies petition, petitioner may go to the county board of education, and failing there, may go to the state board].) There is nothing in the statute to prevent a charter school from doing the same in the event of nonrenewal or revocation. For example, after being denied renewal by the County Board, TFS was renewed by the State Board to operate under its oversight. (See State Board of Education Final Minutes, Item 5 (Aug. 24, 2010) <a href="http://www.cde.ca.gov.be/mt/ms/documents/finalminutes 082410.doc">http://www.cde.ca.gov.be/mt/ms/documents/finalminutes 082410.doc</a> [accessed Jan. 18, 2012].)<sup>11/</sup>

<sup>10/</sup> Portions of Education Code section 47607 and the implementing regulations may be found in the Appendix to this brief.

<sup>11/</sup> The State Board's Agenda with supporting documents detailing history of events is at <a href="http://www.cde.ca.gov/be/ag/ag/yr10/agenda201008">history of events is at <a href="http://www.cde.ca.gov/be/ag/ag/yr10/agenda201008">http://www.cde.ag/ag/yr10/agenda201008</a> 24.asp> (accessed Jan. 18, 2012). TFS also was granted a charter by the Inglewood Unified School District. (See California Department of Education, State Numbered Charter Schools in California <a href="http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/si/cs/ap/rptresult.asp?name=TOd&Submit">http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/si/cs/ap/rptresult.asp?name=TOd&Submit</a> [accessed Jan. 24, 2012].)

In sum, it cannot credibly be said that the County Board and TFS (or chartering authorities and charter schools, generally) were competing for "the same business opportunities" (POB 16) or that the County Board "disproportionately represent[ed] one interest group over another (POB 17). The circumstances of this case are a far cry from those in *Haas v. County of San Bernardino*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th 1017, where the hearing officer resolving the appeal of a license revocation had a "direct, personal, substantial, pecuniary interest" in reaching a certain conclusion. (*Id.* at p. 1025.)<sup>12/</sup> The County Board granted TFS's petition and subsequently renewed it. (I AR 1:4, 53; III AR 32:1434.) That evidence is in itself wholly inconsistent with any notion of a financial incentive to revoke TFS's charter. If this Court decides to consider TFS's claim of bias based on pecuniary interest, it should do so only to reject the claim as unfounded.

## 2. Gale's "not neutral" remark was not an admission of actual bias.

This Court has stated that "adjudicators challenged for reasons other than financial interest have . . . been afforded a presumption of impartiality." (*Haas v. County of San Bernardino, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 1025, citing *Withrow v. Larkin* (1975) 421 U.S. 35, 47 [95 S.Ct. 1456, 43

<sup>12/</sup> In *Haas v. County of San Bernardino*, the government unilaterally selected and paid the hearing officer whose income from future work depended entirely on government goodwill. (27 Cal.4th at pp. 1020, 1024.) The possible temptation posed by the economic reality of outcome dependent compensation was deemed to offend the Constitution. (*Id.* at pp. 1027-1032.)

L.Ed.2d 712].) To overcome the presumption, a plaintiff asserting a claim of bias must demonstrate with concrete facts an unacceptable probability of actual bias on the part of decisionmakers. (*Nasha L.L.C. v. City of Los Angeles* (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 470, 483.) TFS contends that Gale, general counsel to the County Board and LACOE, instructed the County Board not to be impartial, that is, to be unfair. (POB 21.) Read in context, Gale's remarks do not establish an unacceptable probability of actual bias on the part of the County Board.

At the November 20, 2007, board meeting, TFS had raised due process concerns, asserting that an impartial hearing officer, rather than LACOE staff, was required to determine the facts and make a recommendation to the County Board. (I AR 16C:267-270.) Asked by a board member for her analysis of the issue, Gale responded:

Today's Fresh Start has a fundamental misunderstanding of your role as the board and as the authorizer of this charter school. This is your charter school. [¶] In this matter the superintendent and staff are not the authorizer, and in our capacity we all advise the board in making this very important decision. It is not LACOE staff versus TFS's staff. The legal burden is on you, the board of LACOE, to determine whether there is substantial evidence to revoke your charter school. [¶] The [Education Code] provides for an appeal to the State Board of Education, and that is the due process stage. It is at that stage where there should be no one-sided communications, each side should have independent counsel. And most important, the adjudicator is the State Board of Ed[ucation], and it is neutral. In this matter, in this process, you are not neutral. You are the authorizer. [¶] Essentially this is the same process we use to evaluate new petitions that come to this board. We use literally the same spectrum of

expert—technical expert staff, there is a public hearing, there is a report of staff, and then there is a recommendation upon which our board votes. [¶] So with all due respect, we do disagree and still maintain that our process is entirely legal.

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